City of Alexandria Meeting Minutes Tuesday, November 24, 2015 6:00 P.M. Council Chambers

Present: Mayor William D. Euille, Vice Mayor Allison Silberberg and Members of Council John Taylor Chapman, Timothy B. Lovain, Redella S. Pepper, Paul C. Smedberg and Justin M. Wilson.

Absent: None.

Also Present: Mr. Jinks, City Manager; Mr. Banks, City Attorney; Ms. Anderson, Assistant City Attorney; Police Captain Wemple; Ms. Triggs, Deputy City Manager; Ms. Collins, Deputy City Manager; Mr. Bernstein, Acting Director, Office of Project Implementation; Mr. McPike, Director, General Services; Mr. Caton, Legislative Director; Mr. Routt, Director, Office of Management and Budget; Mr. Lambert, Director, Transportation and Environmental Services; Mr. Dambach, Planning and Zoning; Mr. Furr, Fire Marshal; Mr. Browand, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities; Mr. Spengler, Director, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities; Ms. Durham, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities; Ms. Wedeles, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities; Ms. Landrum, President/CEO, Alexandria Economic Development Partnership, Inc.; Ms. Beach, Planning and Zoning; Mr. Useem, Chief Performance Officer, Office of Performance and Accountability; Ms. Bryan, Information Technology Services; and Mr. Lloyd.

Recorded by: Jacqueline M. Henderson, City Clerk and Clerk of Council

1. Calling the Roll.

Mayor Euille called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll. All members of City Council were present.

2. Closed Meeting.

6:00 P.M. Consideration of Convening a Closed Meeting To Consult With Legal Counsel and Staff Regarding Actual or Probable Litigation and/or Specific Legal Matters Requiring the Legal Advice of Counsel and Discussion or Consideration of the Investment of Public Funds Where Competition or Bargaining is Involved.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilman Smedberg and carried unanimously, City Council convened into closed meeting to discuss the possible investment of public funds through certain economic development incentives and to consult with staff and legal counsel regarding threatened or pending litigation and to consult with legal counsel regarding specific legal matters, specifically the investment of public funds through real estate tax abatements in support of economic development and pending litigation

and possible appeals involving specific development projects pursuant to Section 2.2-3711(a)(6) and (7) of the Code of Virginia. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilman Smedberg and carried unanimously, City Council reconvened in open session at 7:15 p.m. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilman Smedberg and carried unanimously by roll-call vote, City Council adopted the resolution previously circulated to Council. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

The resolution reads as follows:

RESOLUTION NO. 2697

WHEREAS, the Alexandria City Council has this 24th day of November 2015, recessed into executive session pursuant to a motion made and adopted in accordance with the Virginia Freedom of Information Act; and

WHEREAS, Section 2.2-3712 of the Code of Virginia requires a certification by the city council that such executive session was conducted in accordance with Virginia law;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the city council does hereby certify that, to the best of each member's knowledge, only public business matters that were identified in the motion by which the executive session was convened, and that are lawfully exempted by the Freedom of Information Act from the Act's open meeting requirements, were heard, discussed or considered by council during the executive session.

3. Moment of Silence and Pledge of Allegiance.

City Council observed a moment of silence and recited the Pledge of Allegiance.

4. Reading and Acting Upon the Minutes of the Following Meetings of City Council:

The Regular Meeting Minutes of November 10, 2015; and The Public Hearing Meeting Minutes of November 14, 2015.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilwoman Pepper and carried unanimously, City Council approved the regular meeting minutes of November 10, 2015, and the public hearing meeting minutes of November 14, 2015. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

ORAL REPORTS FROM CITY COUNCIL ON BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES

Mayor Euille said Robbie Werth is present in the Chambers tonight and he said Mr. Werth as president of Diamond Transportation won the Metro Award for accessibility, for his efforts in improving accessibility of Metro. He said Mr. Werth started Diamond Transportation in 1984 as a provider of para-transit services for the City Schools. He offered congratulations to Mr. Werth.

* WMATA (Mayor Euille)

Mayor Euille said the WMATA Board agreed to hire Paul Wiedefeld as the new general manager/CEO of WMATA. He said WMATA is still in the throes of the FY2017 budget process and it had conversation with staff on the direction the budget may go on whether there will be fare increases, subsidy increases and/or service cuts.

* Council of Governments (Mayor Euille)

Mayor Euille said he serves as chair of the Board of the Council of Governments and at his direction last week, he felt there was a need for the region to have a dialogue about what happened in Paris and to make sure they are on top of things in the DMV. COG had two scheduled conference calls on the issue last week and he said public safety and other agencies have stepped up visibility and monitoring.

* Quality of Life Committee (Mayor Euille and Councilman Wilson)

Councilman Wilson said the Quality of Life Committee met on Friday and had a report from the Commonwealth's Attorney and they reflected on the successful completion of the prosecution of the Lodato, Kirby and Dunning murders and recognized the strong teamwork throughout the Public Safety agencies: Police, Sheriff's and Commonwealth's Attorney as well as assistance from the State and Federal partners in bringing a successful conclusion to that trial. He said they received the first of a report from the Police Department on traffic enforcement and efforts to improve traffic safety and special enforcement efforts. He said they received the normal overview, which reflects that part 1 crime is down one percent, although they are seeing a significant jump in aggravated assaults. He said they continue to work with Public Safety agencies to keep the community safe.

Mayor Euille noted that they are also not seeing an increase in gang activity.

* City/Schools Subcommittee (Mayor Euille and Councilman Wilson)

Councilman Wilson said the City/Schools Subcommittee met yesterday and he said they received an update on Patrick Henry and the status of that and to make sure the actions of the Council and the Board are in alignment in moving that project forward. Councilman Wilson said they received an update on the continuation of Council's efforts on early care and the after school efforts and that work continues. Councilman Wilson said although it wasn't talked about at the most recent meeting, they did get the enrollment numbers and as predicted, there was a 3.6 percent increase in enrollment – 503 additional students this year.

* Transportation Planning Board (Councilmember Lovain)

Councilmember Lovain said the Transportation Planning Board had the 50th anniversary of the Transportation Planning Board. At the meeting, most of the focus was on Metro and the Planning Director of Metro emphasized the problems in the core of the Metro system. He said they are having issues with clearing of the platforms downtown before the next train arrives, and the solutions tend to be longer trains, more escalators and stairs, improved reliability at the stations and those will cost a lot of money. Councilmember Lovain said on the constrained long-range plan and the desire to put a little more teeth in their approval of projects, they will see some projects coming before TPB.

Councilmember Lovain said he attended the Chesapeake Bay Committee water quality forum that it held with the EPA and State agencies. He said he was gratified to hear the director of the Chesapeake Bay Program talk about the importance of localities and acknowledging that they are the ones who run the water treatment plants and make land use policies. He said a representative of the Governor's Office in Maryland talked about their commitment to meeting their commitments for Chesapeake Bay. Councilmember Lovain said the representative also presented data that Maryland's Eastern Shore is home to 300 million chickens, so one can imagine the phosphorous implications of that.

Mayor Euille asked staff to report on the conference call he and Councilman Smedberg participated in last Friday about the proposed re-opening and reconsideration of extension of the HOT Lanes on I-395 North into Washington, D.C.

Mr. Lambert, Director, Transportation and Environmental Services, made a presentation on the letter the VDOT Secretary of Transportation presented on Friday relating to the HOT Lanes on I-395 and he responded to questions of City Council.

REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CITY MANAGER

CONSENT CALENDAR (5-7)

(Reports and Recommendations of the City Manager)

5. Consideration of Receipt of FY 2016 First Quarter Capital Projects Status Report Related to City Council Approved Capital Projects.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 5; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

6. Consideration of the Annual Board and Commission Attendance Report for Fiscal Year 2015.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 6; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

7. Consideration of Approval of the City of Alexandria's Proposed FY2022 Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program (CMAQ) and Regional Surface Transportation Program (RSTP) Project Funding Requests.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 7; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

END OF CONSENT CALENDAR

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilman Smedberg and carried unanimously, City Council adopted the consent calendar, as follows:

5. City Council received as information the FY 2016 First Quarter Capital Projects Status Report.

6. City Council: 1. received the report; 2. vacated the eight positions listed on page one and two of the report; and 3. authorized the City Clerk and Clerk of Council to advertise the vacancies.

7. City Council: 1. approved the FY 2022 proposed transportation projects request as listed in attachment 1; and 2. authorized the City Manager to apply for these grants and enter into any necessary agreements with the Commonwealth of Virginia to accept any of these grants.

The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CITY MANAGER FOR DISCUSSION

8. Consideration of Adoption of the City's Legislative Package for the 2016 General Assembly Session.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 8; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Smedberg, seconded by Vice Mayor Silberberg and carried unanimously, City Council adopted the following items, as recommended by Council's Legislative Subcommittee and set out in attachment 1, for inclusion in the City's Legislative Package for the 2016 General Assembly Session: items A.1 through A.4, B.1 through B.7, C.1 through C.5, D.1 and D.2, E.1 and E.2, F.1 and F.2 and G.1 through G.11. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

9. Consideration of the Next Steps for the Food Truck Pilot Program.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 9; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

Ms. Anderson, Assistant City Attorney, made a presentation of the staff report and responded to questions of City Council.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Chapman, seconded by Councilman Wilson and carried 6-0, City Council directed staff to bring back options based on the recommendations from the food truck advisory group for introduction on December 8 and set for public hearing on December 12, to include acting on the sunset provision. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none. (Councilwoman Pepper was absent for the vote.)

10. Consideration of the Carlyle Vitality Initiative Update and Proposed FY 2016-2017 Strategy and Estimated Budget.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 10; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

Ms. Beach, Planning and Zoning, made a presentation of the staff report and she, along with Ms. Landrum, President/CEO, Alexandria Economic Development Partnership, and Mr. Jinks, City Manager; responded to questions of City Council.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilwoman Pepper, seconded by Councilman Chapman and carried unanimously, City Council received the update and endorsed the proposed program and funding strategy for activation of the Carlyle public realm. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

11. Oral Report on Department of Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities 2015 Parks and Recreation Needs Assessment Survey Findings.

(A copy of the powerpoint presentation is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 11; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

Mr. Spengler, Director, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities, along with Ms. Wedeles, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities, and Ms. Durham, Recreation, Parks and Cultural Activities, made a presentation of the staff report and responded to questions of City Council.

City Council received the report.

12. Oral Report on Public Reporting of City Performance Indicators.

(A copy of the powerpoint presentation is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 12; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

Mr. Useem, Chief Performance Officer, Office of Performance and Accountability, made

a presentation of the staff report and he, along with Mr. Jinks, City Manager, responded to questions of City Council.

City Council received the report.

ORAL REPORTS AND ORAL PRESENTATIONS BY MEMBERS OF CITY COUNCIL

13. Council Guidelines for Honest Civil Discourse. (Mayor Euille)

(A copy of the Council Guidelines is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 13; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

Mayor Euille said there was a request at the last public hearing by the Federation of Civic Associations to revisit the Honest Civil Discourse policy so he asked staff to bring it forward for Council's consideration.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Chapman, seconded by Vice Mayor Silberberg and carried unanimously, City Council reaffirmed the guidelines for honest civil discourse. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

* * * * * *

1. Councilmember Lovain said he would miss the December 8 meeting as he has a business trip.

2. Councilman Wilson asked for support to move to the next step on a memo relating to the 72-hour rule, City Code Section 10-4-8.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilwoman Pepper and carried unanimously, City Council directed staff to pursue the community engagement that staff has proposed and look at whether there are reforms of the rule that are possible. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

3. Councilman Smedberg said he had asked the City Manager to gather data on City Council and Council Aides stipends, and he asked for consensus to instruct the City Manager to come forward with an item on December 8 with a public hearing on December 12 to review the stipend/salary of City Council members and the Mayor and to bring forward a resolution to review the stipend of the Council Aides.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Smedberg, seconded by Vice Mayor Silberberg and carried unanimously, City Council instructed the City Manager to come forward with an item on December 8 with a public hearing on December 12 to review the stipend/salary of City Council members and the Mayor and to bring forward a resolution to review the stipend of the Council Aides. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

ORAL REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER

Mr. Jinks, City Manager, announced the appointment of Morgan Routt as the Director of Budget, Helen McIlvaine as the Director of the Office of Housing, and Corey Smedley as the new Emergency Management Coordinator.

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS

14. Consideration of the Resolutions to Establish the FY 2017 Budget Guidance. [ROLL-CALL VOTE]

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 14; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilwoman Pepper and carried unanimously by roll-call vote, City Council adopted the resolution updating the process to be used to adopt operating budgets and capital improvement programs. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

The resolution reads as follows:

RESOLUTION NO. 2698

Budget Resolution Establishing the Process To Be Used To Adopt Operating Budgets and Capital Improvement Programs

WHEREAS, the Alexandria City Council wishes to establish policies to guide upcoming budget deliberations to ensure responsible actions with current economic resources; and

WHEREAS, resolutions No. 2088, 2150, 2166, and 2256, and 2368 previously adopted by City Council have now expired; and

WHEREAS, City Council believes that flexibility is needed for both the preparation and evaluation of expense items as well as with regard to diversifying the sources of revenue available to fund the General Fund Operating Budget; and

WHEREAS, City Council's deliberations on the budget each year reflect a balancing of the needs of the community with the community's ability to afford services to meet those needs; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to provide the core services expected of a municipal government and to continue to provide quality services and facilities for the residents and businesses of Alexandria, but understands that economic reality will require significant trade-offs between services and revenues; and

WHEREAS, the City Council is committed to managing the cost of City General Fund operating and capital expenditures in order to properly balance the tax burden placed on the community; and

WHEREAS, the City Council is committed to achieving the vision and strategic goals, long term outcomes, objectives, and initiatives as outlined in the City Council's Strategic Plan; and

WHEREAS, City Council desires to allow for a thoughtful and deliberate budget process given the budget's complexity and importance;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Alexandria, Virginia, that the Council shall, for the purposes of consideration of the Budget for the City of Alexandria, adopt this resolution and adhere to the following rules of procedure:

Section (a) The City Manager's Budget Submission to City Council and the Setting of Budget Guidance by City Council

(1) That the City Manager shall plan and prepare the proposed Operating Budget and proposed ten-year Capital Improvement Program and that such preparations shall include those programs and resources necessary to achieve the City Council Strategic Plan.

(2) That the City Manager shall present to City Council a preliminary forecast and outlook for (a) revenues and (b) expenditures necessary to maintain existing services and policies (including the City Manager's forecast of cash capital and debt service costs related to the most recently approved Capital Improvement Program).

(3) That City Council shall direct that the City Manager prepare a budget resolution to be adopted by City Council to guide the preparation of the upcoming Operating Budget and next Capital Improvement Program.

(4) That the City Manager shall submit a proposed Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program to the City Council. Such budget shall meet any guidance for General Fund revenues and expenditures established by City Council and should include no more than one percent of unreserved fund balance.

Section (b) The Budget Submission to City Council by the Alexandria Public Schools (ACPS)

(5) That the Alexandria City School System shall separately present to City Council, but in a format coordinated with the City Manager, its preliminary forecast and outlook for (a) expenditures necessary to maintain appropriate services and policies, (b) the outlook for additional requests for Schools operating in the upcoming fiscal year and capital needs through the upcoming fiscal year and the succeeding 5 to 10 years, (c) the outlook for possible budget reductions and increases in fees, fines and charges for services, (d) the outlook for Federal and State grants, and the costs of meeting unfunded Federal and State mandates, both current mandates and projected new mandates.

(6) That the Board of the Alexandria City Public Schools is requested to adopt a Capital Improvement Program no later than December 17, 2015 and an Operating Budget no later than March 3, 2016 so that any request may be considered by City Council in parallel with

the City Manager's proposed operating budget and Capital Improvement Program. If the ACPS budget request exceeds or otherwise does not comply with any guidance regarding fiscal limitation provided by City Council to ACPS, then ACPS shall clearly identify what operating programs and activities would be funded if additional funding were provided.

Section (c) Actions of City Council Concerning The Budget Submissions of the City Manager and the Alexandria Public Schools (ACPS)

(7) That as part of a preliminary forecast of assessments and expenditures provided by the City Manager, City Council will consider this information and any other relevant information available to it at that time including the comments of residents provided via a public hearing or other public input opportunities.

(8) That the Council shall hold a budget public hearing on the City Manager's proposed budget in the month following the budget submission by the City Manager and should reserve time for public comment once the Preliminary Add/Delete list of City Council Budget Proposals and technical adjustments by the Office of Management and Budget has become available and distributed to the community. Any additional public hearing shall not conflict with or serve in place of a public hearing regarding the establishment of an effective tax rate as required by the Code of Virginia.

(9) That Council directs City staff to organize at least one public meeting outside of City Hall to present the budget to interested residents, and solicit input. Additionally, City staff shall provide an opportunity for residents and organizations to submit written budget comments to the Council in lieu of or in addition to participation in public meetings.

(10) That Council directs City staff to prepare motions for adoption of the Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program and a summary of decisions made in the Final Add/Delete worksession following the worksession. Those motions and the summary of final decisions shall be released for public review no later than 48 hours prior to the scheduled adoption.

(11) That City Council shall consider these proposals and endeavor to enact an Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program that balance the needs of the community with the community's desire and ability to pay for services to meet those needs.

(12) That City Council plans to adopt such a budget resolution.

Section (d) Proposed Budget for the City of Alexandria

(12) For purposes of this resolution, the proposed budget of revenue rates and expenditure levels for the fiscal year shall be that proposed by the City Manager.

(13) For purposes of this resolution, the Office of Management and Budget shall provide revenue and/or expenditure projections for any motion or amendment that could affect the proposed budget specified in Section (a) (2).

Section (e) Maximum Expenditure Levels May Not Exceed Sum of Projected Revenue and Appropriation from Fund Balance in Proposed Budget

(14) It shall not be in order in the Alexandria City Council to consider any motion or amendment to the proposed budget of the City of Alexandria if:

(i) there has not been a Budget Memo or formal information request submitted that relates to the specific item proposed for consideration or a Council discussion of the proposal during a budget work-session or public hearing has not occurred; and

(ii) any such motion or amendment that has the effect of increasing any specific budget expenditures proposed by the City Manager or would have the effect of reducing any specific revenue proposed by the City Manager unless such motion or amendment provides for a specific offset of either expenditure or revenue and ensures the maintenance of the fiscal balance of the proposed budget; and

(iii) such motion or amendment is not provided in the form of a City Council budget proposal submitted to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) with a majority (4 of 7) of Council's support for the proposal or an OMB technical adjustment at least 14 days prior to the adoption of the budget in accordance with the FY 2016 Rule of Engagement for the Add/Delete Process.

(15) In the Alexandria City Council, any appropriation from the Fund Balance or any like account beyond that proposed in the Manager's proposed budget shall require an affirmative vote of five Council Members.

Section (f) Expiration – The provision of this resolution shall continue unless otherwise amended in the future by City Council.

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Smedberg, seconded by Councilwoman Pepper and carried unanimously by roll-call vote, City Council adopted the FY 2017 budget guidance resolution, with the following amendments:

CIP Section removing the language "and for other priority capital purposes";

ACPS Section to add language "inflationary increases not related to enrollment growth" in Section H;

Changes to Section L in the add/delete process, reintroducing the add/delete sheet, including the sheet with the form requiring that a Councilmember submit one to balance out the budget, and in Section 2 (3) that a majority of Council has to support any proposal, to replace "majority" with "three" members of Council;

On the Transportation Improvement Program structure: to request the city manager to look at the issue and when the budget is proposed, to figure out what makes sense and not necessarily hold to what it's done in the past;

The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

The resolution reads as follows:

RESOLUTION NO. 2699

Setting Guidance for FY 2017 General Fund Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program for FY 2017 – FY 2026

WHEREAS, the City Council of Alexandria passed a resolution establishing Council's process for formulating the Operating Budget and the Capital Improvement Programs (CIP) during the term of this Council and requires that City Council set budget guidance for the City Manager and the School Board for the FY 2017 budget.

WHEREAS, the City has held a series of public outreach efforts designed to collect community input into the development of the FY 2017 budget; and

WHEREAS, the City Council's budget deliberations and annual spending decisions reflect a balancing of the goals articulated in the City's Strategic Plan;

WHEREAS, through the Results Alexandria framework those services directly supporting the achievement of the City's strategic goals are considered for funding support; and

WHEREAS, the City Council is committed to continuously improving the efficiency and effectiveness of City government and expects the City Manager and City staff to focus on achieving service outcomes and providing programs that benefit the community and its residents; and;

WHEREAS, the City Council is committed to continue providing core services expected of a municipal government including the provision and maintenance of the City's capital infrastructure; and

WHEREAS, the City Council will not make budgetary changes that may threaten the City's 'AAA'/'Aaa' bond ratings; and

WHEREAS, the City Council acknowledges that the resources required to achieve the goals of the Strategic Plan must be weighed against the appropriateness of the tax burden placed upon citizens; and

WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes the need to measure the impact of programs and lines of business against expected outcomes, to deemphasize or eliminate programs that do not yield those outcomes desired, and to identify efficiencies wherever possible; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to emphasize a multi-year perspective for fiscal planning; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF ALEXANDRIA THE FOLLOWING:

(a) Operating and Capital Improvement Program Expenditures: The City Manager may propose for Council consideration, increases in operating and capital project expenditures including compensation adjustments so long as any increased operating or capital project expense can be demonstrated as necessary to meet the strategic goals and outcomes of the City, and/or can be demonstrated to diminish a specific risk to the community. Likewise, the City Manager may propose decreases in operating and capital project expenditures provided

the decrease can be demonstrated to be of lesser utility in achieving the goals and objectives of the City's Strategic Plan. An appropriate source, or sources, of revenue, compliant with applicable laws regarding revenue sources as established by the Code of Virginia, must be identified for all proposed operating and capital project expenditures.

(b) Taxes, Fees, Fines and Service Charges: In funding the proposed budget, the City Manager may consider changes to tax rates, tax designations/reservations, fees/fines/service charges that are equitable, fair and administratively feasible provided that these proposals are observant of the constraints imposed by the Code of Virginia. Such changes can only be considered where they advance the priorities of the Council as stipulated in this resolution, through Legislative Sessions, or the Council Retreat.

(c) Growth-oriented Tax Policy Changes: Informed by the recommendations of the Business Tax Reform Task Force, the work of the Alexandria Economic Development Partnership, and the work of the Finance Department, the City Manager may consider changes to the business tax policy through administrative regulation/procedural changes as well as any tax rate or policy changes, that the City Manager believes will promote in a cost-effective manner the short/medium-term commercial tax revenue growth and that aligns with the City's targeted economic development strategies.

(d) Cost Saving Measures: The City Manager shall continually identify and implement cost saving measures and efficiencies in all City and School operations and consider reduction of service levels where the performance exceeds the level required by the community, where the current level of service is not a strategic priority, or where performance, over time, has not achieved the desired outcomes.

(e) City Workforce: The City Manager shall ensure that the proposed budget includes employee compensation (salary and benefits) that recognizes strong performance and continues investments in professional growth and development opportunities The City Manager shall also incorporate into the 5-Year Financial Planning Model a compensation strategy that enables the City to achieve and maintain pay competitiveness for positions throughout the organization, including correcting inequitable pay practices and compensation structures, in an effort to attract and retain top talent. The compensation strategy should be considered within the City's overall priorities and investment obligations.

(f) Use of Surplus: The City Manager will recommend use of prior-year surplus funds first to ensure that the Capital Improvement Program includes sufficient cash capital funding, then to address one-time or manageable ongoing costs that positively impact the expected goals in the Strategic Plan.

- (g) CIP: The proposed FY 2017-2026 CIP shall incorporate the following:
 - 1. Compliance with the City's adopted/proposed Debt Related Financial Policy Guidelines for any debt issuance planned for FY 2017 through FY 2026;
 - 2. An updated proposal for financing the planned Potomac Yard Metrorail station.
 - 3. Consistency with the City's adopted cash capital investment policy of a General Fund cash capital transfer amount of between 2.0% and 2.5% of General Fund revenues;

- 4. The optional use, as determined by the City Manager, of an additional General Fund operating budget surplus from FY 2016, if any, as commitment for capital projects in FY 2017 and beyond;
- 5. Specific descriptions of projects that can be funded within recommended levels of funding, and their associated operating costs, estimated for all years of the CIP; and,
- 6. Proposed amendments to the City's Debt Related Financial Policy Guidelines necessary for the proposed Potomac Yard Metrorail station project.

(h) ACPS Funding: That the City Manager, (1) recommend for transfer to the Alexandria City Public Schools an appropriation equal to the amount approved by City Council for FY 2016, except that the City Manager may vary from FY 2016 approved appropriation if specifically to address anticipated changes in student enrollment, inflationary increases not related to enrollment growth, expense changes resulting from cost saving measures employed by ACPS, or cost changes which results from efficiencies gained through the sharing of services with other entities, and (2) develop options for potential funding of proposed public school capital needs for the FY 2017 through FY 2026 time period.

(i) Outside Agencies: Organizations outside the City government that receive funding support from the City must demonstrate an alignment of their efforts with accomplishments of the City's strategic objectives. In cases where there is discretion over the level of funding, organizations external to the City government must demonstrate the purpose and consequence of the funding.

(j) Non-Profit Partnerships: The City Manager shall seek to incorporate the recommendations of the Alexandria Fund for Human Services (AFHS) Citizen Review Committee in the proposed budget.

(k) Disposition of Surplus Property: As detailed in the approved Housing Master Plan, the City Manager shall identify any surplus property that may be appropriate for alternate disposition for social service needs in furtherance of the City's Strategic Plan. Revisions to the Real Estate Disposition Policy shall be proposed as appropriate.

(I) Add/Delete Process: The City Council shall adhere to the following Add/Delete Rules of Engagement for amending and adopting the final budget. These Rules of Engagement were first adopted for use during the FY 2016 budget process:

- 1. Reintroduce the add/delete spreadsheet that was produced by OMB prior to the FY 2016 budget process.
- 2. A City Council Budget Proposal form will be required in order to add or delete anything from the City Manager's Proposed Budget. The form will require the following prior to Council consideration:
 - i. Additional information related to how the change advances the Council's goals/priorities.
 - ii. Additional information related to how this change impacts the performance of that program, service or goal.
 - iii. The support of at least 3 of 7 Council members (the original sponsor and two co-sponsors).

- iv. Must be accompanied by an add/delete spreadsheet in which the sum of the individual Council member's adds and deletes are in balance or produce a revenue surplus.
- 3. The completed City Council Budget Proposal form must be returned to the Office of Management & Budget (OMB), with each of the steps from #2 above completed, at least 14 days prior to the adoption of the budget [for FY 2017, April 21].
- 4. A combined list of all City Council Budget Proposals that meet the criteria in #2, any technical adjustments from OMB, and any City Manager recommended changes, will be provided and discussed at the 2nd Legislative Meeting in April [for FY 2017, April 26].
- 5. Council will work with OMB to refine/develop funding figures based on the proposals submitted, to be completed 7 days prior to budget adoption [for FY 2017, April 28].
- 6. Completed Council Budget Proposals, with funding, will be circulated to Council and the public the Friday prior to budget adoption [for FY 2017, April 29].
- 7. City Council will be required to keep the budget in balance once all decisions are made.
- 8. Final decisions will be made 72 hours prior to budget adoption and discussed at a Special City Council work session [for FY 2017, May 2].
- 9. Final decisions will be made available to the public 48 hours prior to budget adoption [for FY 2017, May 3]

Budget Adoption will occur on May 5, 2016 with all City Council Budget Proposals, those approved and those not approved, made public upon adoption of the budget.

15. Consideration of a Resolution to Authorize a City Council Member to Participate Electronically in a Limited Number of City Council Meetings Due to an Emergency, Personal Matter, or Medical Condition. [ROLL-CALL VOTE]

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 15; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Chapman, seconded by Councilwoman Pepper and carried 6-1 by roll-call vote, City Council adopted the resolution to authorize a City Council member to participate electronically in a limited number of City Council meetings due to an emergency, personal matter or medical condition. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, Vice Mayor Silberberg.

The resolution reads as follows:

RESOLUTION NO. 2700

WHEREAS, the Virginia Freedom of Information Act (Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700, et seq.) (FOIA) generally provides that the City Council cannot conduct electronic meetings; and

WHEREAS, FOIA provides that individual members of City Council may fully participate in a limited number of meetings electronically if any such member has an appropriate emergency, personal, or medical reason; and

WHEREAS, any such electronic participation can only occur after City Council has adopted an Electronic Participation Policy; and

WHEREAS, it seems appropriate to City Council to adopt such a policy so that a member of Council should be able to fully participate in a meeting even though such member has experienced an unexpected emergency, personal, or medical reason that may otherwise limit or preclude that member's participation;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA

1. That the attached City of Alexandria Electronic Participation Policy is hereby adopted pursuant to Va. Code § 2.2-3708(G).

2. That this resolution shall become effective upon its adoption by the City Council.

OTHER

16. Consideration of City Council Schedule.

(A copy of the City Manager's memorandum dated November 18, 2015, is on file in the Office of the City Clerk and Clerk of Council, marked Exhibit No. 1 of Item No. 16; 11/24/15, and is incorporated as part of this record by reference.)

WHEREUPON, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilwoman Pepper and carried unanimously, City Council received and approved the City Council schedule. The voting was as follows: In favor, Mayor Euille, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none.

Closed Meeting

17 Consideration of Convening a Closed Meeting To Consult With Legal Counsel and Staff Regarding Actual or Probable Litigation and/or Specific Legal Matters Requiring the Legal Advice of Counsel and Discussion or Consideration of the Investment of Public Funds Where Competition or Bargaining is Involved.

The continuation of the closed meeting was not needed.

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED, upon motion by Councilman Wilson, seconded by Councilman Smedberg and carried unanimously, the legislative meeting of November 24, 2015, was adjourned at 11:15 p.m. The voting was as follows: In favor, Vice Mayor Silberberg, Councilman Chapman, Councilmember Lovain, Councilwoman Pepper, Councilman Smedberg and Councilman Wilson; Opposed, none. APPROVED BY:

WILLIAM D. EUILLE MAYOR

ATTEST:

Jacqueline M. Henderson City Clerk and Clerk of Council